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g § ORDER OF REMAND VACATING SUPERSEDING FINAL ORDER
A< '

sald Cour: hcld in the
+ Courirgoms, City Half;
= day o

This  ipatter havmg ,;-m.med to this Court after remand upon

Petitioner’s Pstmon for Revtew of thc Supemdmg Final Order of Respondent

Farh
PRy

Michigan Department of Com:nerce, Board of Medicine, both parties having filed




briefs an& m;d-e orzl argument, aud the Court having reviewed the record of the
proceedinigs below and being fully apprised in the premises; consistent with tha
written Opinfon issued by the Court on Sép-tember 20, 1993, |

IT IS ORDERED:

1. The Supersedin.g Fifxaii Orcicr oﬁ Remnd—d.;ted August 21, 1992,

SR o

The matter is remanded to_the "Michigan Department of

instructed 1

 provide reasons for

it with Section 85; 1969 PA 368, as

sinsaded; MCL 24385, MoA 35600185y

JAMES R. GIDDINGS
JAMES R. GIDDINGS, CIRCUIT JUDGE

COUNTERSIGNED:

RRENDA HOLLERN
Deputy. Cleck,
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"ROBERT L. ALEXANDER, M.D.,
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INVESTIGATION Draaion STATE OF MICHIGAK R

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR TEE COUNTY OF IRGHAM

.

Petitioner, .
: - -—-- - -~ DOCKET NO. 92-72838-A4

vse
. _ OPINION
RD OF MEDICINE, S

BOA ‘ (2, _
' EPARTHENT. OF, COMMERCE,,

1,.a super§sding final order of the Board

nse revocation case. Detiticner, Robert L.

H-.D. , doés not clhafiigﬁé‘e that aspect of the order
fiih;‘iinq hlm in violation of the Public Health Code (tha Code), MCL
333.1101 et .seq; MSA 14.15(1101) et seq. Petitioner contends,
rather, that revocatioﬁ of his medical license and imposition of
a-: $50,000 fine was arbitrary, capricious and an abuse of the
Board's discretion. Alternatively, Petitioner complains that such
sanc:t;tens were made upon unlawful procedure. Both assertions are

969 (the APA),

itidner was: convicted in

ourt and sent to prison pursuant to 21 USC 841(a)(1) and

;,t:_‘r‘ibut_i-gij'q;cf ;onﬁi‘ollé&'*s‘tmgtances and conspiracy with

intent to distribute controlled substances. Shortly thersafter,
thHe "Attorney Gerneral initidted dis€iplinary proceedings in which
several preliminary adjournments were granted and the parties

sﬁip-ulated that Petitioner's license to practice medicine would be

— et
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surrgggg:ed until ths conclusion of the hearing Process, Then, op
| December 20, 1989{ an administrative hearing took place while

Petitioner remained incarcerated. AT that heafing the federal

indictment, jury verdict and order of judgmeng_and commitment ip

§ counsel offered no evidence, Presumably

repared to procsed in his client's absence.
ing officer's propesal for decision {PFD)

;gct;énd contlusi@gsdqfilaw;regarding only the

f the Code. The PFD contained nejther a
¢tion nor any referance to an appropriate oge,
'“§§¢§‘with,aespondéntfs promulgated rule, 1939

< b

AACS, R 338.973%(3). The Board then modified the PFD to concluyde

R

that Petitioner had violated subsections (a), (b)(i), {b) (v},
(B)(vi), (c)(iii) and (c)(iv) of section 16221 of the Code, xcr,

333.18221; HSA;I{.IS(ISZZI). Each such violation allows the Boarg

to impose a sanction ranging anywherae from probation to revocation
" 0f license and a fine. 1d. The Board ordered thae Tevocation of

' Petitioner's license and imposed a $30,000 fine. Petitioner then

s final order as authorized by sectish

tHig Court vacated the Board's

pﬁgd with instructions that a supplemental

that Petitioner could be present and offer

evidence in mitigation of the sanction imposed. The transcript of

o it s
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repsated. violations. Such record reflects that Petitioner was
‘largely unaware of his PsyYchological illness since it was not

!

]

f! properly diagnosed wun%il kua was in prison. The record also
|

g includes a respon51bxlxty study whlch concluded ‘that Petltloaer s

dlsaase caused hlm to mlsuse hls professional Judgment In

addlthﬂ, some community 1eaders and licensed physicians testified

'Ef‘ner s’ rahabltltatlon and remission -of hls illness,

a& ”catlng rastoratlon of Petitioner's license to bractice,

The suppleme: 7 ard was sent directly to the Boa d

?tly' in conformi y“ with section 81(1} of the APA, HCL

3. 569(181)(1), tﬁe agency—readsﬁtheﬁrecor&

issued its sdperseding final order, which said that the evidence

adduced at the supplemental hearing was “considered" by the Board.

That order reinstated the prior order of license revocation and
fine without fully articulating the Board's reasons for :he
discipline imposed —- eXcept for its determination that Petitioner

violatedAthe Code.

The matter now returns fo this Court after Temand.

Pt when a4 statute or the

constltutlon provides for a different scope

1 of review, the court shall hold unlawful
- and- set aside a decision or order of an
~agency if substantial ‘rights of the
petitioner have been prejudiced because the
decision or order is any of the following:

rer—" et ¢ rtr]
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resulting in material prejudice to a party.

¥

|

| "{e) Hade upon unlawful procedurs

|

ﬁ

'i * x 3

i -
“{e)-- Arbitrary, capricious or-clearly

an abuse or unwarranted exercise of i

discretion."

“Petltloner 1nvokes each of the quoted Teasons for vacating the

ozt e = = .

i Board's order, saylng flrst that it ig arbztrary, capricious and

- an. abuserof tha Board 5 dxscratlon, then assertlng that it is also

procedure.

Lo Py
et

Tradltlenally, courts have Malléwad a significant f
f
I

degree of dlSCIEtlon to Ean} agency when it is actlng thhln the :

scope of Elts] autherlty " Kelly A4 quuor Control Comm, 131 Mich

B T

standard of review requires that "{a) board's decision to revoke

[
App 600, 603; 345 NW2d 697 (1983). More précisely, the applicable !
|

ﬂ a license should not be disturbed absent "an abuse of 615cretidn.“

E Kieffer v Bd of Medicine, 142 Mich App 825, 830; 371 Rw2d 462
!

(1985), citing DeHart v State Bd of Registration in Podjatry, 97

Mlch App. 307; 293 NW2d 806 (1980). <This standard is described in

alscretlon 1tself invglves
¢e, df an exercise of the
rmlnatlon made. between
ations. in order to have
an abuse ln reachlng such determlnaulcn,
the result must be so palpably and grossly
violative of fact and logic = that ™ it
evidences not the exercise of will but
perversity of will, not the eXercise of
judgment but the deflance thereof, not the

4




exercise of reason but rather of passion or
TTT bias.'®

Petitioner argues in essence that the racord adducad at

¥

the supplemental hearing was of such a nature that the Board's

reaffl’matlon of ltS Prior order of license revocation and fi:e
had to be an abuse of discretion. However, Respondent correctly
poxnts Lo the following determinative Passage froem Marrs, supra,
p 694 E ' ' . B

¢ of the record does not
2% L that the Board of
. L9..consider the : numerous.
'sent  in this cise.
board was not
* by the mltlgatlng
£5Ser sanction] does
0ard did not consider
. Rathf it may méan that the
board consxdered thé proven violations,
themseives, so grave as. to warrant belng
daalt with severély." (Emphasis added, )

(j Thus, absent any evidence of abuse 3 rev1ew1ng Court must npot

disturb the Board's choice of sanction since there may be reasons

not enunciated on the record, to support it. Not surprisingly,

Respondent now asserts that it "simply was not convinced that a

dlmlnutlcn in sanction was warranted” given Petitioner‘s several

tne Board 5 action was within the scope of its authorl;y The

w Court further concludes that the Bdard's action was not an abuse
of dlscretlon even though the superseding final order merely said
that the mltlcating evidence was "consxdered" and then reaffirmed

the prior order of .revocation and fine. However, this Court

3




;ﬁ ‘possible canctidng

“ascertain from

s

cannot--discern from either the record or the supersedin§ final

| order whether the Board's choice of sanction was "based on fact

and logic indicating a well-reasoned exercise’ of -judgment."

Atklns v Dep't of Socwal Services, 92 Mich App 313, 326; 284 KwW24

794 (1979).

Responde;;'s imposition of one sanction among several

at stating all pertinent reasons for such

For: o i“ of tﬁa& cho;ce and lmp051tlon of a

S e a

that of the agénty. - See Triantafillou v

| Liguor control Comm,- 322 Mich 670, 673-74; 34-NW2d 471 -{1948)

(reviewing court erred By substituting its judgment for that of
the agency where the sanction imposed was tlearly within the
agency's scope of authority and where there was no showing that

the agency abused its discretion); Bessinger v Dep't  of

¢ Corrections, 142 Mich App 793, 797; 371 Nw2d 868 {1985) (reviewing

court erred by modifying the agency-imposed sanction absant "clear

and artlculable grounds“ for the court s lnterventzon) o

- able to uphold

11"

‘occurred. That would in effect give Respondent complete and

unfettered dlscretlo s.nce the 1m9031t10nAof a sanctlon void of

-

supportive reasoning on the recsrd could not be subjectgd to

"meaningful," albeit limited, review. See Consumers Power Co v

Public Seryice Comm, 78 Mich App 581, S85; 261 Nw2d 10 (1977).

L
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That‘ggnld also jeopardize the fundamental notion that justice
requires the sanction to fit the vielation. Moreover, due process
and the APA function to Protect against the erroneous deprivation
of property interests. Nowhere are such considerations more

pfﬁnoﬁnced or directly 'implicated than when the dégree of

deprivation, e.g., choice of sanction, is at issuen For these

| radsolis Petitionst s socond argument is compelling.

Petitioner argues in the alternative that the choice of

“Vwas_an in: combiiancs with section 85 of the APA, MCL
1 n&fiﬁéiefo;é<whs made upon uhlawful

wvides in part:

ecision -or order ‘of an
<y X contested ¢ase shall be made,
within a reasornable perioed, in writing or
stated in thé record and shall include
findings of fact and conclusions of law.
Findings of fact ghall be baséed exclusivaly
on the evidence and on matters officially
neticed. Findings of fact, if set forth in
statutory langtage, shall be accompanied by
a concise and explicit statement of the
underlying facts supporting theém {and)
[e]ach.concl&si@h of law shall be supported
by authority or reasoned opinion."®

Thus, Patitioner|intimateswphgy section 85 requires Respondent to

E—

o "the "violations and the 'offender and then

1&"5§3§;£ag such findings into a well-reasoned exercise of

nt %ﬁitngafécord”s :aégto supéort the Board's choice of one

sdnction over othérs. This Court agrees. -

Although Marrs, Supra, suggests that the Board's

reasons for imposing a particular sanction need not be made part

7
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‘ of the administrative record, that precise issue was not before
the Supreme Court in that case. Where that issue has been decided
the authorities are clear that, like any agency's final decision

maker, the Board "'must articulate with clarity and precision i:ts

findings and the reasons for its decisions.- The importance of
his requirement is inherent in the doctrine of judicial review

ﬁwhlch places only llmlted discretion in the reVLew1ng court,

386 Mich 3735, 405 152 NwW2d 449

37‘ 233 NWZd 1?3 (19?5), which also

chh App 32
‘e,passage from WAIT Radlo.

;nlY-by carefully analy21ng the Board's flndlngs and
.ratiOnale regarding the sanction imposed can this Court determine

whetler the agency abused its discretion. As was stated in

Consumers Power Co, supra, "[bJefore this court can decide if the
commissienfs ruling was supported by ‘'competent, material and
substantial evidence on the whole record,' we must be informed of

the nature of (the] evidence." Likewise, <this Court cannot

uwhether the Board's imposition of a

discred unless the

fimdings and the full

port tbe Board's ch01ce.

t's only rebuttal is essentlally that section

85 Oﬁfth&'APA does not apply to the Board's choice of sanction.

Spec1f1callyy Respondent states-that "Inlowhere in the [APA] is

there a requirement that separate and distinct findings be made

.
H
1
1
1
1

!,
i
[
f
{
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concerning sanctions. Logic dictates that it is the_ _f_ijzglings of
fact and conclusions of law which form the basis and zj'atione.le of
the sanctions imposed.” Respondenﬁ‘s reasoning is flawed.

The Board's choice of sanction is intrinsic to its
final decxs:.on and thersfore must be made in compllance with

sectlon 85 of the XAPA. The express flndlngs of fact and

ChYconclisions” of law, which ~exclusively concern Petition’er's

'igti_c’&r’x&_éf_the Code, cannot lagically form the sole basis fcx:

The mz.tlgatz.ng ev:.dence must also be

T e e e ¢y

e i 1

nct:.on A"based on fact and logic lndlcatlng a well-

:_,.reasaned exerc1se of judgmant.' Atkins, supra. Only..then can

+ this Court assess whether the Board's exercise of discretion was

reasconable. Here, however, the order is silent as to the evidence
adduced at the supplemental hearing con remand.
The record developed on remand suggests that Dr.

Alexander's capacity to exercise his professional judgment was

- substantially d_iminished as a result of the bipolar disorder and

that such dlmlnlshed capacxty was involuntarily induced. The

n could j stify reentry Vint'o madical
The Board“ must therefore make finc‘iings of fact
regarding this evidence’ and relate such findings to its choice of
sanction in accordance wlth section 85 of the APA. This is
e-&;éec:.ally [{s! where, 'as here, the hearlng officer 'made no

findings, drew no conclusions and issued no PFD regarding the

9




evidence offered in mitigation. o

In addition, the Board's order reflects thét

Petitioner's anticipated application for license restoration is

conditioned on a §50,000 fine being paid in full. Since the

1icense itself is probably Dr. Alexander’s ‘only means to

accumulate any appreciable weaith, this condition apﬁears highly

s irregular; “Neither the Code nor Respondent's promulgated rules

lend any direct support for the condition required'by the Board.

“‘Enger,‘gxpressly_;mrmit the Board to impose

a physicidn whese license 1is revoked may under certain

circumstances reapply at "reasonable intervals to demonstrate that
he or she can restme competent practice in accordance with
standards of accaeptable and prevailing practice.™ MCL 333.16247;
MSA 14.15(16247).

Thus, 4in accordance with sectien 85 of the APA

Respondent must also articulate on the record its reasons for

:'::: ticular fine. Because the Board requires

before application is madd for license
- esgon&eht-mnst furtﬁer?értiéhiate Mﬁffthis‘condition
: 'éaéqaably hinder Dr. Alexander's right to apply after
tﬁféé fga;s:gf'féﬁocation of to reapply at "reasonable intervals.”
This will require the Board to make findings of fact with respect

te Dr. Alexan&er's ability to pay the amount of the fine imposed.

10
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— . It is well settled that constructions of a sfatute made
by the agency charged with admlnlsterlng it ara ent;tled to
respectful con31deratlon and will not be cverruléd without cogent
reasons. Courts glva great weight to agency v;ews, especially
' when there are gaps in the statutory scheme Such admlnlstvatlve
interpretations will be overruled enly when the Statute's language

,g@;j[,;; ntraty construction. Sse g’gxe;a v Ambassador Stee)

fl Co_(On Rehearing, 380 Mich 513; 158 Ww2d 473 (1368, and its

ganf. See also Detroit Ed;son Co V’ﬁlchlaan Air

—Lontrol Comm, 167 Mich App 651, 60, 423 KW2d 306

)8 } chever, the Court can fing nothing in the Code that
_ authorlzes the Beard to require full Payment of a fine before it
‘w111 consider an application for Yicense restoration.

To summarlze this Court cannot - presently discern

whether Respondent's choice of sanctlon 15 the result of a well-
;reascned exercise of dmscretlon Although Respendent is entitled

" to the presumption that it has not abused its discretion, that jg

| not irrebuttable, Here the mode of discipline imposed on
“|| Petitiomer is not justified PY reasons since none save for

?Petltloner's"Code v1olat10ns is expressly glven. Thus, the Board

ﬁh@',f admlnlstratzvé

s ‘ : _ v Dep't of Natural Resources 158 Mich App
L704 ?06 ?G?' 405 Nw2d 149 {1987) Cf Tease) v pap! a

Health 419 Mich 390, 409-412; 355 NW2d 75 (1984].

Such conclusion is dictated by several con51deratlons
Whére the Boarg fashions a sanction comporting with sectlon BS5 of

the APA, a reviewing court is less likely to respond inappropri-

11
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ﬂ ately by substituting its own judgment for that cf.ihg agency,
Such practice.is alsc more likely to reveal latent abuses by the
| agency. Thus, where the Board's choice of sdnction satisfiss
I section 85, courts can exercise more effectlve judicial reviaw
Agf'when a sanctlon 15 appaalé&m-_Such rev1ew1ng courts can then base
| any necessary interveéntion on "eclear and articulable grounds™
'*iffgfﬁéé the agenéy's fiﬁdfﬁ@é’&h& rationals fér”sdch;dhoice'are part
| of the reccrd. Bessinager, supra. Such review also ensures that
y‘the due process rlght to an approprlate sanctlen lS adequa ely
k protectedM;;Aenv151oned by'the APA. Finally, sanctiochs comporting
w1th sectlon 85 of the APA promote the efficisent admlnlstratlon of
55,Justxce,wzthout~dsurp&ng=the Board's broad discretion in fashion-
f’ ing a sanction.

The Court is unable to discern the path of the Board's
ﬁ reasoning and decision making on remand. For that reason the
Court finds that Respondent's choice of sanction with only a

partial supporting rationale violated section 83 of the APA, HMCL

| 24.285; MSA 3.560(185). The Court determines further that the APA
H

: . l' :

' "ma t er:

vtlpllne based on _”wful procedure

.matérially prejudxce Dr. Alexander ig not serxously debated,

The Board's superseding final order must ‘therefore be vacated and

: efmatter rémanded for a final decision and order wherein the
reasons for the Board's choice of sanction are sufficiently

articulated to comport with section 85 of the APA,

J{l
|
|

V4

P
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l' violation coﬁstitutes "unlawful procedure" Whlch has resulted in

'udlce“ to, Patltlcner HCL 24. 306(1)(c), MSA 3.560 -




e . .

.. _An ordar consistent with this opinien may-enter .upe

l‘ its proper p;esen_t_at.‘;on. .

I ' REVERSED,

f -

JAHES R. GIDDINGS =
¢ - Circuit Judge )
DATED: & | ‘
!
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